### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 21–1977

# AIDEN VASQUEZ and MIKA COVINGTON,

Appellees/Cross-Appellants,

vs.

#### IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County William P. Kelly, District Judge

#### APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa SAMUEL P. LANGHOLZ THOMAS J. OGDEN Assistant Attorneys General 1305 E. Walnut Street Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5164 (515) 281-4209 (fax) sam.langholz@ag.iowa.gov thomas.ogden@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Does chapter 17A authorize a challenge to the constitutionality of an amendment to the Iowa Civil Rights Act in a proceeding that wasn't brought under or based on that Act but instead is reviewing the denial of Medicaid benefits based on a Medicaid rule?

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10) Iowa Code § 216.7(3) Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4)

II. Does the equal-protection guarantee of the Iowa Constitution prohibit the Legislature from amending the Iowa Civil Rights Act to clarify that the Act doesn't require governments to provide gender reassignment surgery?

Iowa Const. art. I, § 6 Iowa Code § 216.7(3) Good v. Iowa Department of Human Services, 924 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2019)

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should keep this case. The district court declared a recent amendment clarifying the scope of the Iowa Civil Rights Act unconstitutional under the equal-protection guarantee of article I, section 6, of the Iowa Constitution. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a). And whether a court can even reach that constitutional question on judicial review of an agency contested case proceeding that wasn't brought under or based on that Act is a substantial issue of first impression that deserves consideration by the Supreme Court. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a judicial review proceeding under chapter 17A. Petitioners Aiden Vasquez and Mika Covington are Medicaid beneficiaries who each requested pre-approval for gender-affirming surgery paid by Iowa's Medicaid program. Conf. App. 346–52, 1254–72. Their requests were denied by their managed-care organizations. Conf. App. 352, 508–13, 1274, 1420–22. And they appealed those denials to the Iowa Department of Human Services. Conf. App. 8, 938. The Department affirmed the denials in contested case proceedings because a longstanding administrative rule excludes Medicaid coverage for most "cosmetic reconstructive or plastic surgery," including "[p]rocedures related to transsexualism, hermaphroditism, gender identity disorders, or body dysmorphic disorders." Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4); see Conf. App. 923–24, 932–33, 1522–26, 1666–67.

Vasquez and Covington both filed judicial review proceedings of the Department's decisions, and their cases were consolidated. See App. 5–43, 363–399; Order to Consolidate. They argued that the Department's denial of their surgeries—and the Department's rule on which the denials were based—violated the equal-protection guarantee of the Iowa Constitution. See App. 27–29 ¶¶ 155–71; App. 383–85 ¶¶ 138–154; see also Iowa Const. art. I, § 6. And they claimed the denials violated two statutory requirements for agency

action under section 17A.19. See App. 39–40 ¶¶ 235–45; App. 395–97 ¶¶ 218–28; see also Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(k), (n). So they sought an order reversing the denials. See App. 43, 399.

But they also made even broader challenges. They argued that a recent amendment to the Iowa Civil Rights Act—clarifying that the Act doesn't require the State or local governments to pay for gender-affirming surgeries—is also unconstitutional. See App. 29–39 ¶¶ 172–234; App. 385–95 ¶¶ 155–217. They asserted the statutory amendment violated not just equal protection but also the single-subject requirement of the Iowa Constitution because it was enacted as a part of a larger appropriation bill funding Medicaid and the rest of the State's health and human services operations. See App. 29–39 ¶¶ 172–234; App. 385–95 ¶¶ 155–217; see also Iowa Const. art. III, § 29. And they contended that because the amendment to the Act should be struck down, the Department's denials and its administrative rule violate the previous version of the Act as well. See, e.g., App. 29–31 ¶¶ 174, 181–85.

The Department moved to dismiss Vasquez and Covington's challenges to the Civil Rights Act amendments and those based on the Act because they were not properly before the court in this limited judicial review proceeding and failed as a matter of law. See App. 218–24. The Department also sought dismissal of their requests for broad injunctive and declaratory relief and attorney's

fees. See App. 224–29. The Department didn't dispute their right to appeal their core challenge to the Department's denial and the administrate rule on which it was based. See App. 218.

The district court partly agreed with the Department. It dismissed Vasquez and Covington's single-subject claim because they hadn't brought it until after the amendment was codified and were thus too late. See App. 682. The court also dismissed their claims that the Department violated the Civil Rights Act because they had not exhausted their administrative remedies under the Act. See App. 677. But the court didn't dismiss their challenge to the constitutionality of the amendment to the Act. See id. And it declined to rule on the propriety of the remedies at the motion-to-dismiss stage. See App. 684.

Vasquez and Covington then asked the court to reconsider its dismissal of their Civil Rights Act claims. See App. 687–95. They argued that a challenge to an administrative rule based on the Act was proper without following the exhaustion requirement the Act. See App. 691–95. But the district court denied the motion and reaffirmed its dismissal of the claims based on the Act. App. 732–35.

The same day, the district court also ruled on the merits of Vasquez and Covington's remaining claims. The court agreed with them that the Department's denial of their request violates the Iowa Constitution's equal-protection guarantee. It reasoned that

the denial—and the Department's administrative rule—failed rational basis review and heightened intermediate scrutiny because nothing in the record suggests that the surgery is not medically necessary or that denying the surgery would save State expense. *See* App. 774, 777, 790–91.

The court went on to also declare the amendment to the Civil Rights Act unconstitutional. The court followed the same analysis, holding that the amendment also failed both rational basis and intermediate scrutiny. See App. 774, 777, 790–91. Yet the court rejected Vasquez and Covington's alternative argument that the statute was motivated by unconstitutional discriminatory animus against transgender Iowans. See App. 776–80.

The district court also held that their alternative statutory bases under section 17A.19 for reversing the Department's decision failed. See App. 791–93. The court denied their requests for broader injunctive and equitable relief. See App. 793–94. And it denied their request for attorney's fees, relying on the Court of Appeals' denial of attorney's fees in a similar successful Medicaid judicial review proceeding. See App. 794 (citing Good v. Iowa Dep't of Hum. Servs., No. 18-1613, 2019 WL 5424960 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2019)).

The Department then filed a timely notice of appeal. App. 797. And Vasquez and Covington later filed a cross-appeal. App. 800–01.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Iowa Medicaid covers certain medically necessary services for needy Iowans. See Iowa Code ch. 249A; Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1; see also Exceptional Persons, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Hum. Servs., 878 N.W.2d 247, 248 (Iowa 2016) (noting the Department "is responsible for managing the Medicaid program in Iowa"). And most such services are provided by contracted managed care organizations. See Iowa Admin. Code ch. 441-73 pmbl., r. 441-73.2.

Before 1979, the Department had an unwritten policy of excluding sex reassignment surgeries from covered physician services based on existing exclusions and limitations for "cosmetic surgery" and "mental diseases." *Pinneke v. Preisser*, 623 F.2d 546, 549–50 (8th Cir. 1980). That unwritten policy, however, was implemented "[w]ithout any formal rulemaking proceedings or hearings," and so the Eighth Circuit held that this denial of funding was arbitrary. *Id.* at 549; *accord Smith v. Rasmussen*, 249 F.3d 755, 760 (8th Cir. 2001) (characterizing *Pinneke* the same way).

In 1994, the Department clarified its rule excluding surgery performed for primarily psychological purposes to spell out that sex reassignment surgery fell within that exclusion, in compliance with the Eighth Circuit's admonition in *Pinneke*. The resulting rule provides in relevant part:

78.1(4) For the purposes of this program, cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery is surgery which can be expected primarily to improve physical appearance or which is performed primarily for psychological purpose. . . . Surgeries for the purpose of sex reassignment are not considered as restoring bodily function and are excluded from coverage.

a. Coverage under the program is generally not available for cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery. . . .

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4); see also Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4)(b)(2) (excluding surgeries for certain conditions, including "transsexualism" and "gender identity disorder"), 441-78.1(4)(d) (15)–(17) (excluding "sex reassignment," "penile implant procedures," and "insertion of prosthetic testicles"). The Eighth Circuit concluded this rule was "both reasonable and consistent with the Medicaid Act." Smith, 249 F.3d at 761.

The Legislature later amended the Iowa Civil Rights Act to add "gender identity" to the list of protected classifications. See Act of May 25, 2007, ch. 191, §§ 5–6, 2007 Iowa Acts 625, 626–27 (codified at Iowa Code § 216.7(1)(a)). After that amendment, section 216.7(1)(a) provides that it is "unfair or discriminatory" for any "agent or employee" of a "public accommodation" to deny services based on "gender identity." Iowa Code § 216.7(1)(a). Transgender individuals fall within this gender identity classification "because discrimination against these individuals is based on the non-

conformity between their gender identity and biological sex." *Good* v. *Iowa Dep't of Hum. Servs.*, 924 N.W.2d 853, 862 (Iowa 2019).

In 2017, two transgender Iowans requested preapproval for gender-affirming surgery from Iowa Medicaid. *Good*, 924 N.W.2d at 856. The Department denied the requests based on its longstanding administrative rule excluding the surgery from coverage. *Id.* And the two Iowans sought judicial review of the decision arguing, among other claims, that the decision violated the Iowa Civil Rights Act and the Iowa Constitution. *Id.* This Court eventually held that the Department violated the Act's prohibition on public accommodation discrimination when it denied coverage expressly because the requested procedures related to gender identity disorders. *See id.* at 862. Relying on the "time-honored doctrine of constitutional avoidance," the Court did not hold that excluding coverage for gender-affirming surgery violates the Iowa Constitution. *Id.* at 863.

In response to *Good*, the Legislature again amended the Iowa Civil Rights Act to clarify its scope. *See* Act of May 3, 2019, ch. 85, § 93, 2019 Iowa Acts 243, 287 (codified at Iowa Code § 216.7(3)). The Act now states that its prohibition on public accommodation discrimination "shall not require any state or local government unit or tax-supported district to provide for sex reassignment surgery or any other cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery procedure re-

lated to transsexualism, hermaphroditism, gender identity disorder, or body dysmorphic disorder." Iowa Code § 216.7(3). The amendment was effective upon its enactment on May 3, 2019. See Act of May 3, 2019, ch. 85, § 94, 2019 Iowa Acts at 287. And it was codified when the 2020 Iowa Code was deemed officially published on January 13, 2020. See Iowa Code §§ 2B.12(2), 2B.17(2)(b), 2B.17A(2) (setting a default "publication date" of "the first day of the next regular session of the general assembly"); see also 2021 Iowa Code Vol. VIII., at VIII-1459 (noting the historical chronology of 2020 Iowa Code).

Shortly after enactment of the Civil Rights Act amendment, Vasquez, Covington, and another plaintiff sued seeking a declaratory judgment that the amendment was unconstitutional. The district court dismissed their suit, holding that the claims were not ripe and that one of the plaintiffs lacked standing. And the Court of Appeals affirmed in *Covington v. Reynolds*, No. 19-1197, 2020 WL 4514691 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2020). The court explained that the plaintiffs "[had] not requested Medicaid pre-authorization, their Medicaid providers [had] not evaluated the request, and no notice of decision had been issued." *Id.* at \*3. So the court agreed that "until their Medicaid providers deny them coverage, the controversy is purely abstract because they have not been adversely affected in a concrete way." *Id.* It also reasoned that "[a]lthough the legislature

has amended the ICRA so that the administrative rule no longer violates the law, the question of whether Medicaid must provide a recipient with a gender-affirming surgical procedure still resides, ultimately, with the DHS." *Id.* Thus, the court held that Vasquez and Covington had a legally adequate means of redress through the administrative process. *Id.* 

After the Court of Appeals' decision, Vasquez and Covington sought Medicaid preapproval from their MCOs. Conf. App. 346–51, 1254–72. Their requests were denied, and they appealed the denials to the Iowa Department of Human Services. Conf. App. 8, 352, 508–13, 938, 1274, 1420–22. The decisions to deny coverage for their gender-affirming surgeries were both affirmed by the Department in separate contested case proceedings. Conf. App. 923–24, 932–33, 1522–26, 1666–67. And in the spring and summer of 2021, they each filed these cases, seeking judicial review of the Department's denials of their requests under chapter 17A of the Iowa Code. See App. 5–44, 363–400. Their petitions make identical legal claims and thus were consolidated and considered by the court together. Order to Consolidate.

In their judicial review petitions, rather than merely seeking to reverse the Department's decisions—so that they could obtain the services they requested from Medicaid—they tried to resurrect their earlier, broader lawsuit that had been dismissed within the new confines of this narrow judicial review proceeding.

They again sought a declaratory judgment that the Iowa Civil Rights Act amendment—clarifying that the Act doesn't require the State or local governments to pay for gender-affirming surgeries is unconstitutional for four reasons. First, they claimed that it the Iowa Constitution's equal-protection guarantee because it facially discriminates against transgender Iowans. See App. 29–31 ¶¶ 172–85; App. 385–87 ¶¶ 155–68. Second, they claimed it violates the same guarantee because "its enactment was motivated by animus toward transgender people." App. 32 ¶ 190; see also App. 388 ¶ 173. Third, they claimed the amendment violates the single-subject requirement of the Iowa Constitution because it was enacted as a part of a larger appropriation bill funding Medicaid and the rest of the State's health and human services operations. See App. 34–37 ¶¶ 200–20; App. 390–93 ¶¶ 183–203. And fourth, they claimed that the amendment violated the title requirement of the Iowa Constitution because the bill enacting the amendment didn't provide adequate notice of its subject. See App.  $37-39 \P 221-34$ ; App.  $393-95 \P 204-17$ .

Vasquez and Covington argued that the district court should grant this relief under section 17A.19(10)(a) because the denial of their requests was "based on" the Civil Rights Act amendment. See,

e.g., App. 29 ¶ 173. They also contended that the relief could be granted under section 17A.19(10)(b) because if the amendment was unconstitutional, it was "null and void," and without the amendment in the Act, the denial violated the Act as previously held by this Court in *Good. See*, e.g., App. 29–31 ¶¶ 174, 181–85.

Along with their attack on the Civil Rights Act amendment, Vasquez and Covington sought to reverse the Department's denial of their surgeries. See App. 43, 399. They claimed that the Department's denials—and the longstanding rule on which the denials were based—also violated the equal-protection guarantee of the Iowa Constitution. See App. 27–29 ¶¶ 155–71; App. 383–85 ¶¶ 138–154. They claimed the denials violated section 17A.19(10)(k) because the denials were not required by law and had a grossly disproportionate negative effect compared to the public interest. See App. 39–40 ¶¶ 235–41; App. 395–96 ¶¶ 218–24. And they claimed the denials violated section 17A.19(10)(n) because they were unreasonable, arbitrary, and capricious. See App. 40 ¶¶ 242–45; App. 396–97 ¶¶ 225–28.

Vasquez and Covington also sought a permanent injunction prohibiting the Department from any further application of its current administrative rule governing gender-affirming surgeries. *See* App. 42, 398. And they asked for attorney's fees. *See* App. 43, 397.

The Department moved to dismiss Vasquez and Covington's challenges to the constitutionality of the Civil Rights Act amendment and those based on the Act because they weren't properly before the court in this limited judicial review proceeding and failed as a matter of law. See App. 218–24. The Department reasoned that its denial and its administrative rules weren't based on the Civil Rights Act—as required by section 17A.19(10)(a)—but on Medicaid rules and statutes. See App. 218–19. And since the constitutionality couldn't be considered, the Department's decision also couldn't violate the Act since the amended Act explicitly provides denial of such surgery isn't a violation. See App. 220. The Department also noted that text of the Iowa Civil Rights Act precluded claims based on the Act since Vasquez and Covington hadn't filed a complaint with the Civil Rights Commission. See App. 220–21.

On the single-subject and title challenges to the amendment, the Department argued that Vasquez and Covington's claims were too late. See App. 221–24. This Court requires single-subject and title challenges to be brought before codification of the challenged legislation into the Iowa Code. See State v. Mabry, 460 N.W.2d 472, 475 (Iowa 1990). And these suits were filed more than a year after that codification in January 2020. So the Department reasoned those claims fail as a matter of law.

The Department also sought dismissal of their requests for broad injunctive and declaratory relief and attorney's fees because none of the requested relief was available in this judicial review proceeding. See App. 224–29. The Department didn't dispute their right to make their core constitutional and statutory challenges to the Department's denials or the administrate rule on which they were based. See App. 218.

The district court partly agreed with the Department. It dismissed Vasquez and Covington's single-subject claim because they hadn't brought it until after the amendment was codified and were thus too late. See App. 682. The court also dismissed their claims that the Department violated the Civil Rights Act because they had not exhausted their administrative remedies under the Act. See App. 677. But it declined to rule on the propriety of the remedies at the motion-to-dismiss stage. See App. 684. And the court didn't dismiss the challenge to the constitutionality of the Civil Rights Act amendments. See App. 677.

The court started by recognizing that this is a close question. It explained that while "[t]here is no question that DHS based its" decision on its administrative rule, "it is less clear whether DHS's decision was 'based upon' [the Civil Rights Act amendment] for the purposes of section 17A.19(10)(a)." App. 673. The court recounted the parties' arguments and focused on the administrative law

judge's discussion of Vasquez's constitutional challenges to the Civil Rights Act amendment in the Department's contested case ruling. See App. 672–75, 677.

The court agreed with the administrative law judge that the Department didn't have authority to rule on a constitutional question. See App. 674; see also Conf. App. 924, 1526, 1666–67. And it noted that the administrative law judge determined Vasquez had properly preserved his constitutional challenge to the Civil Rights Act amendment. See App. 674. But the court never precisely explained why this meant the Department's decision was based on the Civil Rights Act amendment. See App. 672–75, 677.

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