Supreme Court No. 21–1977
Polk County Case Nos. CVCV061729 & CVCV062175

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

AIDEN VASQUEZ and MIKA COVINGTON,
Petitioners–Appellees–Cross-Appellants,

v.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,
Respondent–Appellant–Cross-Appellee.

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County
Honorable William P. Kelly

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS–APPELLEES–CROSS-APPELLANTS

Rita Bettis Austen, AT0011558
Shefali Aurora, AT0012874
ACLU of Iowa Foundation Inc.
505 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 808
Des Moines, IA 50309-2317
Telephone: 515-207-0567
Facsimile: 515-243-8506
rita.bettis@aclu-ia.org
shefali.aurora@aclu-ia.org

Lisa Nowlin-Sohl
ACLU Foundation
125 Broad Street, 18th Floor

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

Of the two forms of heightened scrutiny, intermediate scrutiny requires a party seeking to uphold a classification to show that the “classification is substantially related to the achievement of an important governmental objective.” *Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 880. It is the government’s burden to justify the classification based on a specific policy or factual circumstances that it can prove rather than on “broad generalizations.” *Id.*

The second form of heightened scrutiny, strict scrutiny, is even more exacting. “Classifications subject to strict scrutiny are presumptively invalid” *Id.* They “must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling governmental interest.” *Id.*

Division XX cannot meet either of these constitutional standards, as the district court correctly held. (App. I 769–74 (finding that the statute fails intermediate scrutiny).) There is no “important governmental objective” or “compelling governmental interest” advanced by excluding transgender people from Medicaid reimbursement for medically necessary surgical procedures, which is precisely what Division XX does by reinstating the Regulation. *Id.*; *see also Flack*, 395 F. Supp. 3d. at 1019–22 (striking down Wisconsin’s exclusion of Medicaid coverage for medically necessary gender-affirming surgery).

Given the medical community’s uniform acceptance that surgical treatment is medically necessary for some transgender people on Medicaid, denying coverage cannot be justified on medical grounds. *Good*, No. CVCV054956, at *27–30. (11/19/21 Order at 35.) Surgical treatment for gender dysphoria is medically necessary for Petitioners, as demonstrated by the un rebutted affidavits submitted by their health-care providers. (App. II 776–819; App. II AR 947–66.)

DHS suggests that Division XX is not subject to heightened scrutiny because the statute merely “clarified” the scope of ICRA. (Br. at 39.) DHS’s argument completely ignores the nature of the classification created by Division XX. The so-called “clarification” is a facially antitransgender classification that reinstated the categorical ban on gender-affirming surgery invalidated in *Good*. Characterizing the statute as a “clarification,” or a “respon[se] to a decision of this Court,” without accounting for what the statute “clarified” or what the decision preceding its enactment required, does not satisfy the requirements of equal protection. On the contrary, targeting only transgender Iowans on Medicaid with the “clarification,” and depriving only them of the nondiscrimination rights and remedies in ICRA, rather than clarifying that Medicaid as a whole is not a “public accommodation,” as DHS notes it could have done (Br. at 35), illustrates the discriminatory nature of Division XX.

DHS also suggests that it was “rational” for the legislature to amend ICRA through Division XX in order to avoid “burden[ing]” state and local governments “with the cost of defending future lawsuits” under ICRA based on *Good*. (*Id.* at 39–40.) This rationale fails on its own terms since adhering to this Court’s clear directive in *Good* would have *avoided* “future lawsuits” rather than leading to additional litigation. Ironically, the legislature’s decision to amend the statute is what necessitated Petitioners’ judicial-review actions.

Division XX cannot be justified as a cost-savings measure under either intermediate or strict scrutiny, whether the purported cost savings in question are those associated with denying coverage for medically necessary gender-affirming surgery or avoiding litigation on this issue. Courts, including this Court, the district court in *Good*, and the district court in this case, have rejected this rationale. *See Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 902–04 (cost savings could not justify exclusion of same-sex couples from marriage); *Good*, No. CVCV054956, at *27, 28–29 (rejecting cost-savings justification for Regulation). (App. I 769–74.) No court, for example, would conclude, that separate education for African American children is acceptable simply because educating children in separate facilities would save the state money. An economic justification for a suspect classification is invalid under intermediate or strict scrutiny.

For these reasons, Division XX cannot withstand heightened scrutiny under the Iowa Constitution’s equal-protection guarantee.

b. Division XX fails rational-basis review.

Alternatively, Division XX cannot withstand rational-basis review, as the district court correctly concluded. (App. I 774–77.) Rational-basis review requires a “plausible policy reason for the classification.” *Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 879 (internal quotation marks omitted). It requires that “the legislative facts on which the classification is apparently based rationally may have been considered to be true by the governmental decisionmaker” and that “the relationship of the classification to its goal is not so attenuated as to render the distinction arbitrary or irrational.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted).

Although the rational-basis test is “deferential to legislative judgment, it is not a toothless one in Iowa.” *Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald* (“*RACF*”), 675 N.W.2d 1, 9 (Iowa 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). In addition, rational-basis scrutiny does not protect laws that burden otherwise unprotected classes when a classification is based purely on animus. *U.S. Dep’t of Agric. v. Moreno*, 413 U.S. 528, 534 (1973). At the very least, a “more searching form of rational basis review [is applied] to strike down such laws under the Equal Protection Clause.” *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 580 (2003) (O’Connor, J., concurring).

In *Good* and in this case, the district court concluded that the Regulation did not withstand rational-basis review. *Good*, No. CVCV054956, at *30–34. (11/19/21 Order at 38–41.) For the reasons discussed above, and those relied on by the district court here and in *Good*, there is no plausible policy reason advanced by, or rationally related to, excluding transgender people from Medicaid reimbursement for medically necessary procedures. Surgical treatment for gender dysphoria, a serious medical condition, is necessary and effective. And Medicaid coverage is crucial to ensure the availability of that treatment.

DHS argues that Division XX has nothing to do with prohibiting medically necessary gender-affirming surgery. (Br. at 38.) This ignores the overtly discriminatory language of Division XX and the link between Division XX and the discriminatory Regulation.

In any event, under rational-basis review, Division XX cannot be justified as a measure to save money since there is no reasonable distinction between transgender and nontransgender people relative to their need for Medicaid coverage for medically necessary surgical care. Both groups need financial assistance for critically necessary medical treatments. Cost savings are insufficient to justify the arbitrary distinction Division XX creates between transgender and nontransgender people in need of necessary medical care. *RACI*, 675 N.W.2d at 12–15 (even under rational-basis review, there must be some reasonable distinction between the group

burdened by the law, as compared to the favored group, to justify the higher costs); *see also Diaz v. Brewer*, 656 F.3d 1008, 1014 (9th Cir. 2011); *Bassett v. Snyder*, 59 F. Supp. 3d 837, 854–55 (E.D. Mich. 2014).

Varnum supports this conclusion. While *Varnum* applied intermediate scrutiny to Iowa’s marriage statute, the *Varnum* Court’s rejection of cost savings as a rationale for the discriminatory treatment of same-sex couples applies equally to rational-basis review:

Excluding any group from civil marriage—African-Americans, illegitimates, aliens, even red-haired individuals—would conserve state resources in an equally “rational” way. Yet, such classifications so obviously offend our society’s collective sense of equality that courts have not hesitated to provide added protections against such inequalities.

Varnum, 763 N.W.2d at 903.

Indeed, providing insurance coverage for transgender patients has been shown to be “affordable and cost-effective, and has a low budget impact.” William V. Padula, PhD, et al., *Societal Implications of Health Insurance Coverage for Medically Necessary Services in the U.S. Transgender Population: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis*, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg Sch. of Public Health, Dep’t of Health Policy and Management (Oct. 19, 2015), available at <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4803686> (finding that the budget impact of this coverage was \$0.016 per member per month and provided “good value for reducing the risk of negative endpoints—HIV, depression, suicidality, and drug use”); *see also* Jody

L. Herman, *Costs and Benefits of Providing Transition-Related Health Care Coverage in Employee Health Benefits Plans*, Williams Institute (Sept. 2013), available at <https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/trans-employee-transition-coverage/> (noting that employers report zero or very low costs, and substantial benefits, for them and their employees when they provide transition-related health-care coverage in their employee-benefit plans).

DHS also ignores the medical costs associated with *denying* transgender people access to medically necessary transition-related care. With the availability of that care, transgender people's overall health and well-being improve, resulting in significant reductions in suicide attempts, depression, anxiety, substance abuse, and self-administration of hormone injections. Cal. Dep't of Ins., *Economic Impact Assessment: Gender Nondiscrimination in Health Insurance* (Apr. 13, 2012), available at <https://transgenderlawcenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Economic-Impact-Assessment-Gender-Nondiscrimination-In-Health-Insurance.pdf>.

Moreover, estimates show that only approximately 0.31 percent—i.e., fewer than 7,500—of adult Iowans identify as transgender. Andrew R. Flores, et al., *How Many Adults Identify as Transgender in the United States?*, Williams Institute (June 2016), available at <http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/How-Many-Adults-Identify-as-Transgender-in-the-United-States.pdf>. In turn, only a subset of them rely on Medicaid for health-insurance coverage. The small size of

this population, combined with the fact that gender-affirming surgery is reserved for treating “severe” gender dysphoria (App. II 812, ¶ 29; App. II 817, ¶ 54; 818, ¶ 56), such as the gender dysphoria unanimously diagnosed by Petitioners’ health-care providers (App. II 776–819; App. II AR 947–66), further negates any assertion that prohibiting Medicaid reimbursement for gender-affirming surgery is a fiscal necessity for the State of Iowa.

DHS failed to address this evidence, either in the administrative record or on judicial review, and the district court properly relied upon it to find that “[t]he percentage of Iowans who are on Medicaid, identify as transgender, and qualify as candidates for gender-affirming surgery is incredibly small,” the cost of providing coverage to those individuals is “negligible,” and “there are greater medical costs associated with denying transgender individuals access to transition-related care and necessary surgical procedures.” (App. I 777.) On appeal, DHS does not challenge these findings, which apply equally to Division XX and the Regulation.

Based on these facts, it is unsurprising that more and more state governments are ending exclusions on coverage for gender-affirming surgery. *See* Cal. Dep’t of Health Care Servs., *Ensuring Access to Medi-Cal Services for Transgender Beneficiaries* (Oct. 6, 2016), available at <http://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/MMCDAPLsandPolicyLetters/APL/APL16-013.pdf>; 10 Colo. Code Regs. § 2505–108.735; Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a–71(a); Del. Dep’t of Ins., *The Gender*

Identity Nondiscrimination Act of 2013 (March 2016) Bulletin 86, available at <https://insurance.delaware.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2016/11domestic-foreign-insurers-bulletin-no86.pdf>; Dep't of Health Care Finance, *DHCF Issues Policy Clarifying Medicaid Coverage of Gender Reassignment Surgery* (Sept. 2016), available at <https://dhcf.dc.gov/release/dhcf-issues-policy-clarifying-medicaid-coverage-gender-reassignment-surgery.pdf>; Haw. Rev. Stat. §§ 431:10A– 118.3(a), 432:1–607.3, 432D–26.3 (2022); Md. Dep't of Health & Mental Hygiene, *Managed Care Organizations Transmittal No. 110* (March 2016), available at https://mmcp.health.maryland.gov/MCOupdates/Documents/pt_37_16.pdf; Mass Health, *Guidelines for Medical Necessity Determination for Gender Reassignment Surgery* (2015), available at <https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2016/07/ow/mg-genderreassignment.pdf>; Minn. Dep't of Human Servs., *Provider Manual* (2017), available at https://www.dhs.state.mn.us/main/idcplg?IdcService=GET_DYNA_MIC_CONVERSION&RevisionSelectionMethod=LatestReleased&dDocName=DHS-297587; Mont. Dep't Pub. Health & Human Servs., *Healthcare Programs Notice* (May 2017), available at <https://medicaidprovider.mt.gov/Portals/68/docs/providernotices/2017/provnoticenondiscriminationgendertransition05252017.pdf>; *Web Announcement 1532* (2018), available at https://www.medicaid.nv.gov/Downloads/provider/web_announcement_1532_201_80223.pdf; 2017 NJ Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 176 (ASSEMBLY 4568) (WEST); 18 NYCRR 505.2; Ore. Health

Auth., *Oregon Health Plan Handbook* 13 (March 2017), available at https://aix-xweb1p.state.or.us/es_xweb/DHSforms/Served/he9035_.pdf; Penn. Dep't Human Servs., *Medical Assistance Bulletin 99-16-11* (July 2016), available at http://www.dhs.pa.gov/cs/groups/webcontent/documents/bulletin_admin/c_233793_.pdf; R.I. Exec. Office of Health & Human Servs., *Gender Dysphoria/Gender Nonconformity Coverage Guidelines* (2015), available at http://www.eohhs.ri.gov/Portals/0/Uploads/Documents/MA%20Providers/MA%20Reference%20Guides/Physician/gender_dysphoria.pdf; Wash. Admin. Code § 182-531-1675; Dep't of Vt. Health Access, *Gender Reassignment Surgery* (2016), available at http://dvha.vermont.gov/for-providers/gender-reassignment-surgery-w-icd-10-coded-111616_.pdf; Christy Mallory et al., *Medicaid Coverage for Gender-Affirming Care*, Williams Institute (Oct. 2019), available at https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiqr9vz_6HxAhWtAp0JHe2_BBUQFjAGegQICBAF&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwilliamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2FMedicaid-Gender-Care-Oct-2019.pdf&usg=AOvVaw2f7fn_6eSMt-2x9C62pMcW (summarizing the status of Medicaid coverage for gender-affirming care, including surgery, among state governments); *see also* Dep't of Health & Human Servs. Dep't'l Appeals Bd. Decision No. 2576 (May 30, 2014), available at

<https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/static/dab/decisions/board-decisions/2014/dab2576.pdf> (addressing Medicare coverage for transition-related care).

To the extent DHS now claims that Division XX was a rational attempt to avoid litigation costs associated with the issues addressed by *Good* (Br. at 39–40), that rationale likewise fails. As noted above, adhering to this Court’s decision in *Good* would have avoided litigation, not engendered more of it. In addition, saving money on litigation does not justify the arbitrary distinction Division XX creates between transgender and nontransgender people in need of necessary medical care.

For these reasons, Division XX cannot withstand rational-basis review under the Iowa Constitution’s equal-protection guarantee.

B. Division XX was motivated by animus toward transgender people.

Alternatively, Division XX violates the Iowa Constitution’s equal-protection guarantee because it was motivated by animus toward transgender people, as illustrated by the legislative commentary preceding Division XX’s enactment, the procedural framework in which the statute was passed, and the discriminatory nature of the classification imposed by the statute.

Petitioners have asserted this argument in their response to DHS’s appeal, rather than in their cross-appeal, because their animus argument is an alternative ground for affirming the district court’s equal-protection ruling and was presented to the district court. *See Duck Creek Tire Serv., Inc. v. Goodyear Corners, L.C.*, 796

N.W.2d 886, 893 (Iowa 2011) (“[A] prevailing party can raise an alternative ground for affirmance on appeal without filing a notice of cross-appeal, as long as [it] raised the alternative ground in the district court.”). As either an alternative ground for affirmance or an independent basis for a cross-appeal, the same conclusion applies: The district court should have found that Division XX’s enactment was motivated by discriminatory animus. (*See* 11/19/21 Order at 41–47.)

The evidence establishing Division XX’s discriminatory animus toward transgender people is overwhelming. For example:

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